IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee
vs.
PETER LEROY VEAL,
Defendant-Appellant.

No. 17-1453

APPEAL FROM DISTRICT COURT FINAL ORDER OF THE
HONORABLE JUDGE RUSTIN DAVENPORT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FILED BY:

Dylan J. Thomas AT0008823
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
103 East State St., Ste. 629
Mason City, Iowa 50401
(641) 424-8066
FAX (641) 424-8267
dylanjthomas@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The Trial Court Should Have Found the Jury Pools

Unconstitutional.

State v. Chidester, 570 N.W.2d 78, 80 (Iowa 1997).

6th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 530, 95 S. Ct. 692, 697-98 (1975).

State v. Watkins, 463 N.W.2d 411, 414 (Iowa 1990).

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979).

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 822 (Iowa 2017).

State v. Jones, 490 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992)

Iowa Const., Art. I, Sec. 10.

II. The Court Erred in Denying Defense Counsel's Motion to Dismiss for Violation of the Defendant's Right to 90-day Speedy Trial.

Article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2).

State v. Taylor, 881 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 2016).

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979).

State v. Jones, 490 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992),

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017).

III. The Trial Court Should Have Sustained Defense Counsel's Batson Objection to the State Striking the Last Remaining African-American in the Jury Panel.

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986),

6th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,

14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10.

State v. Mootz, 808 N.W.2d 207, 214 (Iowa 2012).

State v. Miller, No. 16-0331 slip op. at 6-7 (Iowa Ct. App. March 22,
2017).

IV. Prosecutorial Misconduct

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860, 867 (Iowa 2003)

14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution.

State v. Rogerson, 855 N.W.2d 495, 498 (Iowa 2014).

State v. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d 121, 139-40 (Iowa 2006).

U.S. v. Sanchez, 176 F.3d 1214, 1224 (9th Cir. 1999).

Davis v. Zant, 36 F.3d 1538 (11th Cir. 1994)

Bruno v. Rushen, 721 F.2d 1193 (9th Cir. 1983) (per curiam), cert.
denied, 469 U.S. 920 (1984)

U.S. v. Rodrigues, 159 F.3d 439, 449 (9th Cir. 1998).

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 549-550 (Iowa 2010).

V. The Trial Court Should Have Granted Defense Counsel's

Objection to the Gun Demonstration.

State v. Thornton, 498 N.W.2d 670, 674 (Iowa 1993).

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403.

State v. Ward, No. 16-0027 slip op. at 11 (Iowa Ct. App. April 5, 2017)(Vaitheswaran, concurring specially)

State v. Winfrey, No. 1-653/10-0304 slip op. at 8-9 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2011),

State v. Williams, 525 N.W.2d 847, 850 (Iowa 1994).

6th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Article 1 Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution

5th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Article 1 Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution.

VI. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Defense Counsel's Motion for a New Competency Evaluation at the May 23 Hearing.

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2010).

Iowa Code Section 812.3.

VII. The Trial Court Erred in Rulings Limiting the Evidence Regarding State Witness Ron Willis Allowed at Trial.

6th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 678 (1986).

Iowa Const. Art. I, Sec. 10.

State v. Rogerson, 855 N.W.2d 495, 498 (Iowa 2014).

State v. Sallis, 574 N.W.2d 15, 16-17 (Iowa 1998).

State v. Putman, 848 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2014).

Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.401.

Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.402.

Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.404(b)

State v. Putman, 848 N.W.2d 1, 8-9 (Iowa 2014).

VIII. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Defense Counsel's Motions for Judgment of Acquittal.

State v. Corsi, 686 N.W.2d 215, 218 (Iowa 2004).

State v. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d 121, 134 (Iowa 2006).

IX. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Defense Counsel's Motion for New Trial.

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 706 (Iowa 2016).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Peter Veal was charged with two counts of Murder in the First Degree for the killings of Melinda Kavars and Caleb Christiansen, and one count of Attempt to Commit Murder. Trial Information filed November 23, 2016 p. 1, APP p. 004. A motion for a competency evaluation was filed by defense counsel and competency evaluation was done, said evaluation finding Mr. Veal not competent to stand trial. Application for Psychiatric Evaluation of Defendant at State's Expense filed January 3, 2017, APP Vol. II p. 003; Order for Restoration to Competency filed March 3, 2017, APP Vol. II p. 012. After a second evaluation, Mr. Veal was found competent to stand. Order filed May 23, 2017, APP Vol. II p. 015. Defense counsel at the May 23, 2017 competency hearing requested a new competency evaluation based on new evidence. Transcript of Hearing held May 3, 2017 pp. 13-15. Trial

was set to begin on July 10, 2017, but before voir dire, defense counsel objected to the jury venire because there were no African-Americans in the jury pool and was therefore a violation of Mr. Veal's 6th Amendment right to a fair trial. Trial Transcript Vol. 1 p. 2. The defense requested time to research whether Webster County systematically excluded minorities from their jury pools. Trial Transcript Vol. 1 p. 17. The trial court, cognizant that July 10, 2017 was the last day to begin trial without beginning trial after the 90-day deadline for Mr. Veal's 90-day speedy trial right, found good cause attributable to the defense to move trial back one day so that the defense could do research on the systematic underrepresentation issue. Trial Transcript Vol. 1 p. 35-36.

On July 11, 2017, the defense had concluded a review of the jury questionnaires and determined that over the calendar year 2016, Webster County's jury pools only had 1% African-American members, and they moved to dismiss the charges on speedy trial violation grounds. Trial Transcript Vol. 2 pp. 4-5, 28-31. The trial court denied the motion and found that there was good cause attributable to the defendant for delay and that there was no systematic underrepresentation of African-Americans in Webster County jury pools. Trial Transcript Vol. 2 pp. 25, 32-33.

A second jury panel was called in to increase the number of people in the jury pool and the number of African-Americans in the jury pool. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 12-13. The jury pool numbers of the two panels combined were four African-Americans out of the 157 members of the jury pool. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 12-13. The defense objected to this new jury pool on the same grounds as the first jury pool, but the trial court found that the deviation of percentage of African-Americans in the jury pool from the percentage of African-Americans in the Webster County population was acceptable, and that no systematic underrepresentation had been shown, and overruled the objection. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 24-25.

The defense lodged a *Batson* challenge to the State's striking of the last remaining African-American in the jury pool. Trial Transcript Vol. 3, pp. 117-118. The trial court found that the State's non-discriminatory reason for the strike was credible and denied the defense's challenge. Trial Transcript Vol. 3, p. 124.

At trial, the State presented evidence that Caleb Christiansen was killed by another person stabbing him, and that Melinda Kavars had been killed by a single gunshot wound. Trial Transcript Vol. 6, pp. 147, 178-180. The State also presented evidence that Mr. Veal and Ron Willis, a State witness, were the only two people in the room besides the two murder

victims, and Ron Willis testified that it was Mr. Veal who had shot and killed the first victim, then Mr. Veal attempted to shoot him but the gun jammed, and so he left the house, leaving Mr. Veal and second victim. Trial Transcript Vol. 4, pp. 67-77. Ron Willis testified that he called 911 and later learned that the second victim had been killed. Trial Transcript Vol. 4 p. 77, 82. The State presented evidence that when law enforcement arrived, Ron Willis was near the house in question, and Mr. Veal was found further away from the house and his clothes were bloody. Trial Transcript Vol. 3, pp. 162, 165.

Mr. Veal was convicted on all three counts as charged. Order Regarding Trial, Entering Verdict, and Scheduling Further Hearing filed July 20, 2017, APP p. 032. Mr. Veal was sentenced on September 12, 2017. Judgment and Sentence filed September 12, 2017, APP p. 059. Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 14, 2017.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should not be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c) and (f), because this case involves issues of first impression regarding the process of determining systematic underrepresentation under *State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017) and

issues presenting substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principals under the *Duren* and *Plain* lines of cases regarding fair cross sections of the community and minority representation in jury venires.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Should Have Found the Jury Pools

Unconstitutional.

Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. *State v. Chidester*, 570 N.W.2d 78, 80 (Iowa 1997). Error was preserved by defense counsel’s objections to the jury pool. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 14-15; Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 14.

“The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that ‘[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed.’ U.S. Const. amend. VI. The right to an impartial jury entitles the criminally accused to a jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 530, 95 S. Ct. 692, 697-98 (1975).” *State v. Plain*, 898, 821 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017).

“In *Duren v. Missouri*, the Supreme Court defined a three-part test for establishing a violation of the fair cross-section

requirement. 439 U.S. 357, 364, 99 S. Ct. 664, 668 (1979); *see also State v. Watkins*, 463 N.W.2d 411, 414 (Iowa 1990). Under this three-part test, a defendant can establish a prima facie violation of the fair cross-section requirement by showing

(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a 'distinctive' group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

Duren, 439 U.S. at 364, 99 S. Ct. at 668. If the defendant establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the state to justify the disproportionate representation by proving "a significant state interest" is "manifestly and primarily advanced" by the causes of the disproportionate exclusion. *Id.* at 367-68, 99 S. Ct. at 670."

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 822 (Iowa 2017).

"The second prong of the *Duren* test requires that the proportion of the group members in the jury pool is underrepresentative of the proportion of the group members in the community and that the level of deviation from the community proportion be 'unacceptable.'" *Id.*

Under the third *Duren* prong, a defendant must establish that systematic exclusion of the group caused the underrepresentation of the group. *See Duren*, 439 U.S. at 364, 99 S. Ct. at 668. The third prong "distinguishes between situations where a particular jury venire is nonrepresentative and those situations where the jury venires in a district are continuously nonrepresentative of the community." Coriell, 100 Cornell L. Rev. at 481. To establish systematic exclusion, a defendant must establish the exclusion is "inherent in the particular jury-selection process utilized" but need not show

intent. *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366, 99 S. Ct. 669. In other words, the defendant must show evidence of a statistical disparity over time that is attributable to the system for compiling jury pools. Coriell, 100 Cornell L. Rev. at 481. "If there is a pattern of underrepresentation of certain groups on jury venires, it stands to reason that some aspect of the jury-selection procedure is causing that underrepresentation." *Id.*; accord *Duren*, 439 U.S. at 366, 99 S. Ct. at 669-70.

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 823-824 (Iowa 2017).

In the present case, there were two points at which objection was made by the defense to the jury pool. The first was on July 10, 2017, relating to the first jury pool which had zero African-Americans out of 87 jury pool members. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 14-15. The second objection was made on July 11, 2017 to a second jury panel which had four African-Americans in the pool of 157 jury pool members. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 14.

Defense counsel argued in its first objection to the jury pool that the first two prongs of the *Duren* test had been met because the defendant is African-American, African-Americans are a distinct group, and because there were no African-Americans in the jury pool which consisted of 87 people. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 2, 15-16. Mr. Veal is African-American. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 2, 21. African-Americans are a distinct group under the *Duren* test. *State v. Jones*, 490 N.W. 2d 797, 792 (Iowa 1992).

Defense counsel presented, regarding the third prong of the *Duren* test, that Webster County picked their jury pools from voter registration and

driver's license identification lists. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, p. 16. She went on to argue that 32 percent of the state population is excluded from the voter registration list and 27 percent of the population is excluded from the driver's license list. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 16-17. Defense counsel referred to the need to get information regarding the racial make-up of the driver's license and voter registration pools to compare to the county census data. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 17, 31-32.

The trial court issued an initial ruling on the objection to the jury pool, finding that the defendant is African-American, that there are no African-Americans in the jury pool, so that the defense had met its burden on the first two prongs of the *Duren* test, and that for the third prong, there was not enough evidence at that time for the defense to meet its burden, but that the defense was granted additional time to determine if there is systematic exclusion. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 35-36. Defense counsel, at the end of the day, explained to the court that they were going through all the 2016 jury questionnaires to try to determine if there is systematic exclusion because, regarding racial makeup, "We're not sure if the State compiles that. The people we've talked to in Des Moines don't do it. Fortunately, the clerk of court does keep those records, was able to find those; and we're going through 2016 jury questionnaires and looking at how – you know, what the –

the total number was, what the minority count was, to give us an idea whether or not the system that brings these people into the courthouse is fair – a fair cross section of the community.” Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 51-52. Defense counsel explained, “That’s the only way to do it.” Trial Transcript Vol. 1, p. 52.

The next morning, the defense renewed their first objection and motion to strike the jury panel, arguing that there was systematic exclusion. Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 3. Defense counsel stated that the department of transportation and “voter registration” do not keep records of the race of people on their lists and are “blind to race,” so the only way for them to determine the racial make-up of the jury pool over time in Webster County was to go through the jury questionnaires, which they did, “into the early morning hours of today.” Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 4. Their finding was that according to the 2016 census data, Webster County was 5.5 percent African-American, but that the current system for creating jury pools resulted in on 1 percent of the jury pool being African-American. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 5-7. Defense counsel argued that systematic exclusion had been shown as required under the third prong of the *Duren* test because there was underrepresentation shown in the jury pools over the course of the past year, and because the system used to create the pools was blind to race. Trial

Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 4-5. Defense counsel moved to dismiss the case on the basis that because the requirements of the *Duren* test to show a 6th Amendment violation had been met, any delay is attributable to the State because the State is responsible for providing a jury pool that meets constitutional standards, and therefore there was not good cause to continue trial beyond the 90-day speedy trial limit, especially because after it had been determined that the jury panel failed the first two prongs of the *Duren* test, the State did nothing to help determine whether there was systematic exclusion. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 4-5, 22, 28-31.

The trial court found that there was good cause to go beyond 90-days and therefore no violation. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 32-33. As well, in addressing the 6th Amendment issue, the trial court found that on the basis of the analysis of the jury pool over time that was presented by the defense, that there was not systematic exclusion sufficient to meet the standard of the *Duren* test. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 25. The trial court relied in part on the 1992 Iowa Supreme Court decision in *State v. Jones*, 490 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992), which the trial court found held that the use of “motor vehicle records and voting records” was proper. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 25.

The second objection the defense made to the jury pool was on July 11, 2017, after an additional jury panel had been brought in, which changed

the juror numbers to four African-Americans out of 157 jury pool members. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 13-14. Defense counsel submitted that the new percentage, 2.5%, was still short of what is required under the second prong of the *Duren* test, and argued that the first and third prongs remained the same under this second objection as they were under the first. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 14-15. The trial court found that the new numbers resulted in an absolute disparity of 3 percent and comparative disparity of “around 50%” and that those numbers were not enough for a prima facie showing under the second prong of the *Duren* test. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 24-25. The trial court also found the third prong of the *Duren* test was not met. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, p. 25.

Defendant-Appellant submits that the trial court should have found the first jury pool unconstitutional. The first two prongs of the *Duren* test were met because Defendant is African-American and there were zero African-Americans in the jury pool. The trial court found as much in its initial ruling on the matter. Trial Transcript Vol. 1, pp. 35-36. The third prong should also have been found to have been met by the defense because after the defense was allowed to review the jury pool information contained in the jury questionnaires, they found that for the calendar year 2016, African-Americans comprised only 1% of those jury pools despite

comprising 5.5% of the population of Webster County. They also found that the system used to create the jury pools is “blind to race,” or doesn’t take race into account in choosing the sources of the lists of potential jurors. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 4-7.

Defendant-Appellant also submits that the trial court should have found the second pool unconstitutional. For the second jury pool, the first and third prongs of the *Duren* test remain the same, and the second prong analysis is different because the State added a second jury panel to create a larger jury pool, and the second jury pool had four African-Americans out of 157 jury pool members. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 13-14. This change changed the absolute disparity from 5.5% to approximately 3%, and the comparative disparity from 100% to approximately 55% (3% divided by 5.5%). Of the four African-American members of the jury pool, three made the initial cut of the pool. Trial Transcript Vol. 2, pp. 40-41. Of those three, two were challenged for cause for having felony convictions. Trial Transcript Vol. 2 pp. 62-63, 216; Trial Transcript Vol. 3, pp. 13, 18. Finally, the last African-American member of the jury pool was stricken by the State, resulting in a *Batson* challenge by the defense. Trial Transcript Vol. 3, pp. 116-17. The trial court overruled the *Batson* challenge, finding there was a non-discriminatory reason for the strike. Trial Transcript Vol. 3, p. 124. It is

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