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

Veal cannot overcome the "great deference" given to the finding that credited the prosecutor's race-neutral explanation. *See State v*. *Griffin*, 564 N.W.2d 370, 375 (Iowa 1997) (quoting *State v*. *Knox*, 464 N.W.2d 445, 448 (Iowa 1990)). Thus, his *Batson* challenge fails.

IV. There Was No Prosecutorial Misconduct That Could Have Prejudiced Veal or Rendered His Trial Unfair.

Preservation of Error

Veal's counsel did not object or move for mistrial when the prosecutor elicited and dispelled the misconception that "we would have to have more evidence in a murder case than we would in someone who sells alcohol to a minor." *See* TrialTr.V2 p.169,ln.5– p.170,ln.10. The motion for mistrial was not made until it was too late to qualify offending remarks or prohibit follow-up inquiries. *See* TrialTr.V2 p.208,ln.22–p.210,ln.14. Veal's counsel also did not move for a mistrial based on the disagreement over State's Exhibit 1. *See* TrialTr.V4 p.80,ln.3–p.82,ln.1; TrialTr.V4 p.90,ln.19–p.95,ln.21.

"A mistrial motion must be made when the grounds therefor first became apparent." *State v. Jackson*, 422 N.W.2d 475, 479 (Iowa 1988) (quoting *State v. Cornelius*, 293 N.W.2d 267, 269 (Iowa 1980)). Error was not preserved on these two challenges.

Veal's remaining arguments generally correspond to objections timely raised below. *See* TrialTr.V8 p.89,ln.16–p.90,ln.24; TrialTr.V8 p.91,ln.13–p.96,ln.5. The rulings on those claims preserved error.

Standard of Review

"Trial courts have broad discretion in ruling on claims of prosecutorial misconduct and we review such rulings for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d 679, 689 (Iowa 2000); *accord State v. Anderson*, 448 N.W.2d 32, 34 (Iowa 1989).

Merits

"We find an abuse of discretion only where there is misconduct and the defendant was so prejudiced by the misconduct as to deprive him of a fair trial." *Jacobs*, 607 N.W.2d at 689. None of these claims identify misconduct; even if they did, Veal could not show prejudice. The reference to selling alcohol to minors in voir dire was discussing the obvious disparity in seriousness of conduct, not the severity of punishment; it successfully illustrated how the concept of "proof beyond a reasonable doubt" applies equally in all prosecutions, to dispel misconceptions that the State "would have to have more evidence in a murder case." *See* TrialTr.V2 p.169,ln.5–p.170,ln.10; *see also* TrialTr.V2 p.209,ln.9–24. The State needed to identify jurors who could not understand that concept, so it could strike them. "[W]ide latitude is necessarily allowed counsel in examining the jurors for the purpose of advising him as to how to exercise his peremptory challenges." *State v. Tubbs*, 690 N.W.2d 911, 915 (Iowa 2005) (quoting *Raines v. Wilson*, 239 N.W. 36, 37 (Iowa 1931)).

The discussion on State's Exhibit 1 was a simple disagreement, confined to disputed facts. Jurors expect lawyers on opposing sides to disagree with each other in court. Nothing about that conversation could be characterized as misconduct or as prejudicial. *See* TrialTr.V4 p.80,ln.3–p.82,ln.1. Veal has not shown otherwise. *See* Def's Br. at 37.

The prosecutor's rebuttal opened with a personal anecdote as an illustration, and he used defense counsel's name when referring to arguments that defense counsel made. *See* TrialTr.V8 p.89,ln.16–
p.90,ln.24; TrialTr.V8 p.91,ln.13–p.96,ln.5. Veal does not argue that the anecdote was inappropriate because the prosecutor injected any prejudicial material from outside the record. *See* Def's Br. at 38. Instead, Veal claims the rebuttal "disparage[d] defense counsel by name" and belittled his closing arguments. *See* Def's Br. at 37–40. This is not misconduct because those statements were about *arguments* and were not personal attacks.

Characterizing an argument does not characterize the speaker. "A lawyer is entitled to characterize an *argument* with an epithet as well as a rebuttal." *State v. Schneider*, No. 14–1113, 2015 WL 2394127, at *7 (Iowa Ct. App. May 20, 2015) (emphasis added) (citing *Williams v. Borg*, 139 F.3d 737, 745 (9th Cir. 1998)). Prosecutors have considerable latitude in arguments; such statements are permissible when "made to attack the defense's theory of the case rather than defense counsel personally." *State v. Coleman*, No. 16–0900, 2018 WL 672132, at *7–8 (Iowa Feb. 2, 2018). The prosecutor's rebuttal characterized defense *arguments*, and did not cross that line.

If there was misconduct, it was not prejudicial. Veal attacks statements and arguments that are insignificant "in the context of the overwhelming evidence" against him. *State v. Greene*, 592 N.W.2d 24, 33 (Iowa 1999); *State v. Carey*, 709 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006) ("The most important factor under the test for prejudice is the strength of the State's case."). The jurors were instructed that arguments were not evidence, which mitigates any potential for prejudice. *See* Jury Instr. 6; CApp. 102; *accord State v. Musser*, 721 N.W.2d 734, 756 (Iowa 2006). And any objectionable comments were collateral to the central issues in the case, and limited to arguments. *See Carey*, 709 N.W.2d at 559. Thus, even if there was misconduct, Veal was not prejudiced and the court did not abuse its discretion in declining to declare a mistrial. *See* Sent.Tr. p.4,ln.25–p.6,ln.22.

V. The District Court Did Not Err in Permitting the State to Present a Demonstration of How a Similar Firearm Operates, Which Helped Explain What Happened.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved. See TrialTr.V6 p.3,ln.4-p.5,ln.23;

TrialTr.V6 p.47,ln.14–p.57,ln.6.

Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling allowing the use of a demonstrative

exhibit is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See McNeal, 897 N.W.2d

at 703; *State v. Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d 670, 674 (Iowa 1993).

Merits

The State sought permission to let Murillo use a similar firearm from the DCI reference collection (with a dummy cartridge) to show how Veal's gun had functioned, which helped explain how it jammed when he attempted to shoot Ron. *See* TrialTr.V6 p.47,ln.14–p.56,ln.17. The actual gun had been subject to extensive forensic analysis, which left it covered with caustic/carcinogenic chemicals. *See* TrialTr.V6 p.3,ln.17–22; TrialTr.V6 p.49,ln.2–19; TrialTr.V6 p.70,ln.14–20.

The trial court found the demonstration would "assist the jury in understanding some of the issues in this case" relating to the gun, and it noted that relevant differences between the gun from the scene and demonstration gun from the reference collection "can be brought out in examination of the witness." *See* TrialTr.V6 p.56,ln.18–p.57,ln.1. Murillo explained that the gun had jammed because of imperfections in the cartridge; his explanation involved a verbal description of the internal mechanics of the gun. *See* TrialTr.V6 p.64,ln.9–p.67,ln.20. Murillo supplemented that explanation with the same demonstration from the offer of proof. *See* TrialTr.V6 p.70,ln.21–p.80,ln.4.

"Demonstrative evidence is usually received if it affords a reasonable inference on a point in issue." *Thornton*, 498 N.W.2d at 674 (citing State v. Henderson, 268 N.W.2d 173, 179 (Iowa 1978)). Veal argues "[t]he dispute was over who fired the gun, and an operation demonstration provides no information on that issue, nor any issue or fact of consequence in this case." See Def's Br. at 42. But Ron testified that Veal pointed the gun at him and pulled the triggerand nothing happened. See TrialTr.V4 p.71,ln.10-p.72,ln.20. Without understanding how the gun chambered/fired cartridges, jurors would naturally wonder how that imperfect cartridge jammed the gun after Veal successfully fired the shot that killed Melinda-and that would render Ron's testimony more difficult to believe. But seeing a cartridge "in the chamber of the pistol" and watching how the slide mechanism would "pick up the next cartridge off the top of the magazine and chamber it" after each shot would help explain how an imperfection that caused the second cartridge to get "stuck in the chamber" could allow Veal to fire one shot-but not two. See TrialTr.V6 p.76,ln.11p.78,ln.21; TrialTr.V6 p.83,ln.20-p.89,ln.17; State's Ex. 92; CApp. 79. Thus, the demonstration was relevant to show that Ron's account of events was "physically possible." See Thornton, 498 N.W.2d at 675.

Veal argues that relevance was "outweighed by the prejudice that the gun demonstration created by providing an inaccurate

portrait of what happened at the scene of the crime." See Def's Br. at 41–43. But the firearm used to kill Melinda was fired at least once; the demonstration showed how the next cartridge would have been chambered after that. See TrialTr.V6 p.76,ln.11-p.78,ln.21. Murillo established that his reference firearm operated just like the real gun, in all pertinent respects—including the manner in which ammunition "will cycle through the pistol." TrialTr.V6 p.50,ln.12-p.51,ln.18; see also TrialTr.V6 p.71,ln.14-p.72,ln.1. Veal's counsel was unable to identify any difference between the two firearms that would affect the relevance of the demonstration. See TrialTr.V6 p.54,ln.11-p.55,ln.6; TrialTr.V6 p.104, ln.6–25. Those differences were brought out in Murillo's testimony, foreclosing any possibility of confusion. See McNeal, 897 N.W.2d at 709 (finding no abuse of discretion from admission of replica sledgehammer that was identified as replica).

Finally, Veal argues the demonstration had "potential to goad the jurors into overmastering hostility." *See* Def's Br. 42–43 (quoting *State v. Ward*, No. 16–0027, 2017 WL 1278288, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 5, 2017) (Vaitheswaran, J., concurring specially)). But none of the theatrics identified in Judge Vaitheswaran's concurrence in *Ward* were present in Murillo's demonstration. *See* TrialTr.V6 p.70,ln.21– p.80,ln.4. Moreover, this demonstration helped explain a critical part of Ron's testimony about what happened—unlike *Ward*, where the demonstration reinforced proof of specific intent. *See Ward*, 2017 WL 1278288, at *4 (majority opinion).

Finally, Veal's citation to *State v. Winfrey* illustrates that, even if the court should have prohibited the demonstration, that would "not amount to reversible error" because "there was no dispute that a gun was used in the crimes," so any error would be harmless. *See State v. Winfrey*, No. 10–0304, 2011 WL 5387263, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2011); *see also Ward*, 2017 WL 1278288, at *3.

VI. Veal Was Competent to Stand Trial. Preservation of Error

Error was preserved. *See* Order (5/23/17); HearingTr. (5/23/17) at 18,ln.15–p.19,ln.11.

Standard of Review

Competency rulings are reviewed de novo. *See State v. Lyman*, 776 N.W.2d 865, 873 (Iowa 2010).

Merits

Initially, Veal was "not competent to stand trial but [was] a candidate for restoration." *See* Order (1/4/17); App. 9; Report

(2/28/17) at 1; CApp. 5. The court ordered Veal transferred to the IMCC forensic psychiatric hospital for restorative treatment. *See* Order (3/3/17); App. 12. The first follow-up reports found that Veal was "competent to stand trial after restoration," so the court ruled Veal was competent to stand trial and un-suspended the proceedings *See* Comp.Ex. 1 (5/23/17) at 1; CApp. 9; HearingTr. (5/23/17) p.18,ln.15–p.19,ln.11; Order (5/23/17); App. 15.

Veal argues that "enough new evidence" of "unresolved or new competency concerns was brought to light" at the May 23 hearing and "a new competency evaluation should have been ordered." *See* Def's Br. at 43–45. Veal's new evidence is testimony from his mother, who had fifteen-minute visitations with him on two occasions after he was discharged from treatment; she said Veal was acting strangely in different ways during each visit. *See* HearingTr. p.6,ln.3–p.10,ln.24.

"A history of mental illness standing alone, ... does not mean the defendant is incompetent." *State v. Edwards*, 507 N.W.2d 393, 395 (Iowa 1993) (citing *Jones v. State*, 479 N.W.2d 265, 270 (Iowa 1991)). Even if Veal's mother's testimony could establish mental illness, that would not prove incompetency, which requires "a mental disorder which prevents the defendant from appreciating the charge,

79

understanding the proceedings, or assisting effectively in the defense." *See Lyman*, 776 N.W.2d at 874 (quoting Iowa Code § 812.3(1)). And her observations would not refute the experts' findings of competency, which are supported by extensive observations of Veal's faculties and his ability to access memories and discuss abstract concepts, including memories/concepts relating to this case. *See* Comp.Ex. 1, at 3-5; CApp. 11; Comp.Ex. 2, at 2-5; CApp. 15. Those expert reports establish that Veal was fully capable of appreciating the charges against him, understanding the proceedings, and assisting in his defense. Therefore, there was no remaining question as to Veal's competency, and the court did not err in finding Veal was competent to stand trial.

VII. The District Court Did Not Err in Excluding Irrelevant Character Evidence About Ron Willis.

Preservation of Error

Veal's brief cites to the record for rulings that overruled his objections and preserved error. *See* Def's Br. at 46–49.

Standard of Review

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See State v. Putman*, 848 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Iowa 2014).

Merits

"Other crimes, wrongs, or acts evidence cannot be used to show the [witness] has a criminal disposition and, therefore, was more likely to have committed the crime in question." State v. Nelson, 791 N.W.2d 414, 425 (Iowa 2010). Veal offers a mix of different kinds of evidence about Ron: that he dealt drugs to Caleb, that he was charged with an unrelated Class B felony offense, that he had unrelated drug charges in Minnesota, that he allegedly raped Misty, and that he would have faced serious criminal penalties if charged with possession of marijuana. See Def's Br. at 46–51. Most of that evidence bears no logical connection to Veal's non-character relevance theory—it does not establish Ron had a motive to kill Caleb. See, e.g., State v. Harrington, No. 03–0915, 2005 WL 723891, at *5-8 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2005) (concluding "the time gap between the prior and present crimes, together with the weakness of any similarities, leaves the evidence with very little, if any, probative value and tips the scale in favor of exclusion of the evidence"). Moreover, none of it establishes any explanation for why Ron would kill Melinda, why he would bring Veal along, or why he would spare Veal after killing both Caleb and Melinda. See State v. Hardy, 492 N.W.2d 230, 234 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992); State v. Shearon, 449 N.W.2d

86, 88 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989). Evidentiary rules apply even-handedly, and Veal's impermissible propensity evidence was properly excluded.

Veal argues these rulings "had the effect of making [Ron]'s testimony seem more credible than it otherwise would have." *See* Def's Br. at 50–51. Ron's testimony was credible because of how he *acted*, despite his potential exposure to criminal charges, and because it was supported by an overwhelming amount of physical evidence. None of the excluded evidence could have changed the outcome, so any error was harmless. *State v. Ritchison*, 223 N.W.2d 207, 212 (Iowa 1974).

VIII. The Evidence Was Sufficient to Support Conviction. Preservation of Error

Error was mostly preserved through Veal's motion for judgment of acquittal. *See* TrialTr.V7 p.3,ln.8–p.12,ln.12. Though Veal's counsel purported to address all elements of the charges, he contested the key mens rea elements by arguing the State failed to prove identity. *See* TrialTr.V7 p.4,ln.13–21; TrialTr.V7 p.7,ln.5–13. Error is not preserved to attack proof on those elements beyond proof of identity. *See State v. Crone*, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996).

Standard of Review

"Sufficiency of evidence claims are reviewed for a correction of errors at law." *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012).

Merits

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence represents an argument that the evidence presented, even if believed in its entirety, could not prove all of the elements required for a particular charge. *See State v. Hutchison*, 721 N.W.2d 776, 780 (Iowa 2006).

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